#### In the SUPREME COURT of the STATE of MISSISSIPPI In the COURT of APPEALS of the STATE of MISSISSIPPI

AMANDA ROCHELLE BROWN

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

DEC 18 2006

NO. 2006-KA-00717-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

**APPELLEE** 

#### **BRIEF FOR APPELLANT**

#### ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Honorable Michael Taylor Pike County Circuit Court Judge Post Office Drawer 1350 Brookhaven, MS 39602

Honorable Charle E. Miller, MSB Miller & Miller Attorney for Appellant Post Office Box 1303 McComb, Mississippi 39649-1303 Telephone: (601) 249-0017

Honorable Dewitt "Dee" Bates District Attorney 284 E. Bay Street Magnolia, MS 39652

STATEMENT OF ISSUES
STATEMENT OF CASE
STATEMENT OF FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT6-14
CONCLUSION

### In the SUPREME COURT of MISSISSIPPI In the COURT of APPEALS for the STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

AMANDA ROCHELLE BROWN

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2006-KA-00717-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RESPONDENT

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

NAME

**POSITION** 

Honorable Michael Taylor Honorable Charles E. Miller Honorable Dewitt "Dee" Bates Honorable Jim Hood Circuit Court Judge Attorney for Appellant District Attorney Attorney General

CHARLES E. MILLER

CHARLES E. MILLER, MSB #8330 MILLER & MILLER 116 FIFTH AVENUE (39648-4159) POST OFFICE BOX 1303 McCOMB, MISSISSIPPI 39649-1303 Telephone: (601) 249-0017

### In the SUPREME COURT of the STATE of MISSISSIPPI COURT of APPEALS of the STATE of MISSISSIPPI

#### AMANDA ROCHELLE BROWN

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2006-KA-00717-COA

#### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RESPONDENT

#### **TABLE OF CASES AND AUTHORITIES**

#### **CASES**

<u>PAGES</u>
City of Revere v. Massachusetts General Hospital, 463 U.S. 239, 103 S. Ct. 2979,
77 L. Ed. 2d 605 (1983)
Davis v. State, 510 So. 2 <sup>nd</sup> 794, 797 (Miss. 1987)
Fleming v. State, 604 So. 2 <sup>nd</sup> 280 (Miss. 1992)
Gavin v. State, 473 So. 2d 952 (Miss. 1985)
Hale v. Fish, 899 F. 2d 390 (5 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1990)
Hickson v. State, 512 So. 2 <sup>nd</sup> 1 (Miss. 1987)
May v. State, 460 So. 2d 778 (Miss. 1984)
McFee v. State, 511 So. 2d 130 (Miss. 1987)
Murphy v. State, 566 So. 2d 1201 (Miss. 1990)
Offor v. Scott, 72 So. 3 <sup>rd</sup> 30 (5 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995)
Pipkins v. State, 592 So. 2d 947 (Miss. 1999) 8
Preseley v. State, 474 So. 2 <sup>nd</sup> 612, 618 (Miss. 1985)
Reed v. State, 637 So. 2d 194 (Miss. 1994)
Stevenson v. State, (1975, Miss), 325 So. 113
Taylor v. State, 656 So. 2d 104 (Miss. 1995)
U.S. v. Jackson, 818 F. 2d 345 (5th Cir. 1987)
Williams v. State, 784 So. 2d 230 (Miss. App. 2000)

Mississippi Rules of Evidence, Rules 404(b)

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

#### **ISSUE ONE**

THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT CONVICTION PURSUANT TO THE INDICTMENT AND RELEVANT LAW. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING A JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT PURSUANT TO RULE 50 (B) OF THE MISSISSIPPI RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE ------ 6

#### **ISSUE TWO**

	ISSUE THREE	
	ISSUE THREE	
	JLD HAVE DISMISSED THIS CASE BASED ON ILLEGAL 9	
	ISSUE FOUR	
THE COURT ERR	CD IN ITS DENIAL OF CERTAIN JURY INSTRUCTIONS	)
	ISSUE FIVE	
THE LOWER COU	RT ERRED IN ITS FAILURE TO DISMISS THE CASE BASED O	N
TORTURE		Ĺ
	ISSUE SIX	
THE LOWER COU	RT ERRED ON ITS FAILURE TO DISMISS THE CASE BASED	ON
THE PSYCHOLO	FICAL REPORT 11	
	ISSUE SEVEN	
THE COURT ERR	D BY NOT SUPPRESSING THE EVIDENCE OF LATONYA	
McKNIGHT		

#### **ISSUE EIGHT**

THE LOWER COURT ERRED ON ITS FAILURE TO DISMISS THE CASE BASED ON

THE SHACKLING OF DEFENDANT	
	•
<u>IS</u> :	SUE NINE
WHETHER THE SENTENCING CONST	TITUTES COLLEY AND LIMITEDIAL

# 

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about the 19<sup>th</sup> day of July, 2005, Amanda Rochelle Brown, a 20-year-old female was indicted in Pike County in the State of Mississippi for the crime of murder. The Pike County cause number was 05-428-PKT.

The Honorable Michael Taylor, 14th Judicial District Circuit Judge heard this matter.

That trial lasted 5 days. The jury deliberated over several hours the first day; after they came out they said they could not agree; the Judge asked them to go home and return the next day for more deliberations. The jury then deliberated for another several hours then came out with a verdict of guilty of manslaughter. Amanda Brown was sentenced to a term of 20 years with 5 years suspended to serve in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

A Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict was timely filed and denied by said lower court judge.

Amanda Rochelle Brown timely filed her appeal to this Honorable Court.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Amanda Rochelle Brown is an African American female, who has been charged with the crime of murder. She was convicted of manslaughter. Amanda Rochelle Brown is a 20-year-old minor. She was charged with the murder of her girlfriend Lakeisha Russ, a 29-year-old female.

Several officers presented their evidence. None of the officers were able to corroborate the testimony of the main witness Latonya McKnight. Ms. McKnight gave at least five different statements, each statement contradicted the other. The jury deliberated for over seven (7) hours before returning a verdict of manslaughter.

Latonya McKnight was the main witness for the prosecution. She gave several different statements to Detective Cowart and Detective Slipher (T-817-818). Detective Cowart threatened to place Latonya McKnight in jail and take her child away if she did not tell her what happened. This occurred after McKnight had informed Detective Cowart and Detective Slipher she did not see what happened (T-819-820). McKnight cried throughout the interrogation by Detective Cowart (T-819).

#### Latonya McKnight testified as follows:

#### Direct Examinations by Mr. Miller:

Q When Detective Cowart told you that you were going to spend some time – well, let me rephrase the question.

When Detective Cowart talked with you about taking your child from you, that didn't bother you at all?

- A. No, sir.
- Q. You were more worried about Amanda than someone taking your child from you?
- A. No, sir.

- Q Which were you more worried about, Amanda or your child?
- A. My child.
- Q. Then why were you crying, was it about Amanda or your child?

Ms. Jones: Asked and answered, Your Honor.

The Court: I am not going to sustain the objection, but I will instruct counsel to limit it to time. She was crying through a large part of the tape.

MR. MILLER: Yes, sir.

- Q. The latter part of the tape, after Detective Slipher had indicated to you that she would take your child and that you wouldn't see your child, were you crying because of that, also?
  - A. Yes, sir.
  - Q. When Detective Cowart said to you, help me help you, what did that mean to you?
  - A. What you mean by help me help you?
- Q. Well, did Detective Cowart say to you that in order for him to help you, you had to help him? Did you hear that on the tape?
  - A. Yes, sir.
  - Q. Okay. What did that mean to you?
  - A. Telling him the truth.
- Q. And then after he said that to you, you told him that you did not that you did not know what happened, right?
  - A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Detective Cowart also talked with you about going to the District Attorney's office. You remember that?

- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And he said that he could speak for you if you would speak to him; is that correct?
- A. I don't know for sure.
- Q. Okay. When he said District Attorney, do you know who he was talking about?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Who is the District Attorney?
- A. Down here in Magnolia.
- Q. What does the District Attorney do?
- A. Find out the truth.
- Q. Find out the truth? Is that what the District Attorney does?

Do you know what it means to prosecute or bring a charge against a person?

- A. No, sir.
- Q. You do not? Do you know what it mean to go to jail?
- A. Yes, sir.

Several documents were filed on behalf of Amanda Brown, including a report from Dr. Dave Hartson, a psychologist, and a letter from Yolanda Denman, an inmate in the Pike County Jail. Defendant was housed at the Pike County jail during the trial period. While she was there she was tortured along with other inmates - they were maced while behind bars by the Pike County Sheriff Department personnel. The Court denied these issues. Finally, a motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict was filed and denied by the lower court.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Amanda Rochelle Brown is a 20-year-old female who was charged with the crime of murder and convicted of manslaughter.

There were several officers presenting evidence. None of the officers were able to corroborate the testimony of the main witness, Latonya McKnight.

#### **ISSUE I**

THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT CONVICTION PURSUANT TO THE INDICTMENT AND RELEVANT LAW. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING A JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT UNDER THE MISSISSIPPI RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

Amanda Rochelle Brown is a 20-year-old female who was charged with the crime of murder and convicted of manslaughter.

There were several officers presenting evidence. None of the officers were able to corroborate the testimony of the main witness, Latonya McKnight.

The standard of granting a judgment notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV) is well settled.

The evidence must be considered in the light most consistent with the verdict.

Further, the prosecution must be given the benefit of all favorable inferences that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence. Nonetheless, if the facts and inferences so considered point in favor of the accused with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that he was guilty, reversal and discharge are required. Taylor v. State, 656 So. 2d. 104 (Miss. 1995) citing, McFee v. State, 511 So.

2d 130 (Miss. 1987) acting, <u>Gavin v. State</u>, 473 So. 2dd 952 (Miss. 1985), <u>May v. State</u>, 460 So. 2d 778 (Miss. 1984).

A motion for JNOV attacks the sufficiency of the evidence. In <u>Taylor v. State</u>, supra, the Supreme Court reversed a conviction of possession of cocaine with intent to distribute holding that, "the fact that Taylor was in a drug area and leaning into a car may be indicative of a drug transaction, but gives no clue to the identity of the seller." The court found the evidence to be insufficient to establish intent to distribute.

In the case sub judice, the State's case rests entirely on the testimony of the witness, Latonya McKnight.

The State's case is based entirely on <u>circumstantial evidence</u>. Where a case is based wholly on circumstantial evidence, the State must prove defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt and to the exclusion of every reasonably hypothesis consistent with innocence, the burden of proof is heavier than when direct evidence is offered. <u>Murphy</u>

v. State, 566 So. 2ddd 1201 (Miss. 1990). In <u>Murphy</u>, the court held that the circumstantial evidence was insufficient to support defendant's conviction of burglary.

The <u>Murphy</u> court stated that, "it is fundamental that convictions of crime cannot be sustained on proof which amounts to no more than a <u>possibility</u> or even when it amounts to a <u>probability</u> but it must rise to the height which will exclude every reasonable doubt that when in any essential respect the State relies on circumstantial evidence, it must be such as to exclude every other reasonable hypothesis than that the contention of

the State is true, and that throughout the burden of proof is on the State. It is our duty here to maintain these principles."

In <u>Pipkins v. State</u>, 592 So. 2d 947 (Miss. 1991) the court reversed a conviction of possession of controlled substance based on the fact that the "informant's reliable information had never been relied upon before." Likewise in the instant case, the informants never been proven reliable.

#### **ISSUE II**

THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY NOT DISMISSING THE INDICTMENT OR GRANTING A MISTRIAL WHEN IT ALLOWED TESTIMONY OF PRIOR BAD ACTS OF THE ACCUSED

The misconduct of the District Attorney by eliciting testimony from Officers and other witnesses regarding alleged prior bad acts of Amanda Rochelle Brown violated Rule 404(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence. The witnesses testified that Amanda Brown stabbed her stepfather. This was no arrest, indictment, nor was Amanda Rochelle Brown convicted. Testimony of said witnesses concerning prior bad acts not resulting in a conviction is prohibited by Rule 404(b) which states: "Evidence of other crimes or wrongs or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith...." The issue of introducing prior bad acts for rebuttal was addressed by the court in *Reed v. State*, 637 So.2d 194 (Miss. 1994), which held that, "the State could not introduce rebuttal evidence of additional uncharged sale of cocaine by defendant for the purpose of impeaching defendant's statement elicited by the state during cross-examination." Pursuant to *Reed*, supra, the State is prohibited from introducing evidence of the alleged prior bad act of Amanda Rochelle Brown.

#### ISSUE III

### THE COURT SHOULD HAVE DISMISSED THIS CASE BASED ON ILLEGAL ARREST

The arrest was illegal because of the lack of corroborative evidence and the unreliability of Latonya McKnight. Based on the prevailing law the evidence obtained from an unreliable person, the evidence should have been suppressed.

The arrest warrant, in this case, was not supported by testimony of a reliable person, nor was the warrant supported by independent corroboration testimony. *State v. Woods*, 2001-KA-01585-SCI (Miss. 12-05-2002) and *U.S. v. Jackson* 818 F 2d 345 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1987).

Amanda Rochelle Brown was arrested, held and questioned without probable cause.

Probable cause under Mississippi State Law is determined by the totality of the circumstances test, see *Hickson v. State*, 512 so 2<sup>nd</sup> 1 (Miss. 1987).

The totality of the circumstances in Amanda Rochelle Brown's case clearly provides that the uncorroborated testimony of Latonya McKnight was not sufficient to justify Amanda Rochelle Brown's arrest.

#### **ISSUE IV**

#### THE COURT ERRED IN ITS DENIAL OF CERTAIN JURY INSTRUCTIONS

The court wrongly denied defense jury instructions which were tantamount to a violation of Amanda Rochelle Brown's constitutional rights.

The court denied the following instructions

#### INSTRUCTION NO. \_\_\_\_

A person criminally involved with others in a crime is an accomplice. The testimony of an

accomplice is to be considered and weighed with great care and caution [and suspicion].

#### INSTRUCTION NO. \_\_\_\_

The Court instructs the jury that in a circumstantial evidence case that the State is required to prove the accused's guilt not only beyond a reasonable doubt, but to the exclusion of every other hypothesis consistent with innocence.

#### INSTRUCTION NO.

The Court instructs the Jury that where the defendant, Amanda Rochelle Brown or the defendant's witnesses are the only eyewitnesses to the homicide, their version, if reasonable, must be accepted as true, unless substantially contradicted in material particulars by a credible witness or witnesses for the state, or by the physical facts or by the facts of common knowledge.

#### INSTRUCTION NO. \_\_\_\_

The testimony of an alleged accomplice, and the testimony of one who provides evidence against a defendant as an informer for pay or for immunity from punishment or for personal advantage or vindication, must always be examined and weighed by the Jury with greater care and caution than the testimony of ordinary witnesses. You, the Jury, must decide whether the witness's testimony has been affected by any of those circumstances, or by the witness's interest in the outcome of the case, or by prejudice against the defendant, or by the benefits that the witness has received either financially nor as a result of being immunized from prosecution. You should keep in mind that such testimony is always to be received with caution and weighed with great care.

You should never convict any defendant upon the unsupported testimony of such a witness unless you believe that testimony beyond a reasonable doubt.

#### **ISSUE V**

### THE LOWER COURT ERRED ON ITS FAILURE TO DISMISS THE CASE BASED ON TORTURE

Prior to the date of testimony of Amanda Rochelle Brown, the Pike County Sheriff Department conducted an attack on Amanda Rochelle Brown and the other persons in the jail cell. Amanda Rochelle Brown was pregnant at the time of the incident. She was pregnant and attacked by officers and mace was sprayed in the jail cell. That the action of the local sheriff department violated Amanda Brown's due process rights, see City of Revere v. Massachusetts General Hospital, 463 U.S. 239, 103 S. Ct. 2979, 77 L. Ed. 2d 605 (1983), before finding of guilt duty owed a defendant to provide medical care arises out of the Due Process Clause and not the Eighth Amendment as is the case after guilt has been established. Due process requires the responsible government entity to provide medical care to persons injured while being apprehended by the police. How cost of the care is paid is not a federal question.

#### **ISSUE VI**

# THE LOWER COURT ERRED ON ITS FAILURE TO DISMISS THE CASE BASED ON MENTAL COMPETENCY

Amanda Rochelle Brown is a 20-year-old minor was 6 months pregnant at the time. Defense counsel announced to the court that she was unable to stand trial based on her mental state. Said defense counsel asked for a dismissal or mistrial. Said Court denied request. Thereafter, an examination was completed suggesting lack of competency.

It was error to deny defendant's motion for his commitment and determination of his sanity where three witnesses had testified as to his unusual behavior and had given their opinions that he was not sane, and a fourth witness, a psychiatrist, had testified, based on a limited examination, that defendant was incapable of making a rational defense and that he needed further examinations.

Stevenson v. State (1975, Miss) 325 So 2d 113 ( Jackson v. State (1976, Miss) 337 So. 2d 1242).

Competency to stand trial in Mississippi is govern by Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-13-11(1972), which requires a defendant be found capable of making a rational defense.

#### **ISSUE VII**

# THE COURT ERRED BY NOT SUPPRESSING THE EVIDENCE OF LATONYA McKNIGHT

The Court failed to suppress the physical evidence in this case including but not limited to the audiotape, knife, photographs, etc.

Detective LeeAnn Slipher testified that Latonya McKnight lied several times. Detective Slipher testified that she and Detective Cowart threatened Latonya McKnight to get the statement against Amanda Rochelle Brown. Therefore, the investigation leading to the arrest was illegal. Thus, the arrest was illegal. All such evidence illegally obtained should be suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree.

Evidence should be suppressed based on the lack of reliability of Latonya McKnight. No evidence has been offered indicating that this particular witness had ever provided information to the officers in the past. Nor was the evidence offered showing that the witness was truthful or reliable.

There was no independent corroboration of the evidence given by Latonya McKnight.

The arrest was illegal because of the lack of corroborative evidence and the unreliability of Latonya McKnight. Based on the prevailing law the evidence obtained from an unreliable person, the evidence should have been suppressed.

The arrest warrant, in this case, was not supported by testimony of a reliable person, nor was the warrant supported by independent corroboration testimony. *State v. Woods*, 2001-KA-01585-SCI (Miss. 12-05-2002) and *U.S. v. Jackson* 818 F 2d 345 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1987).

Further, courts have held that search warrant law is applicable to arrest warrants. See *Hale v*.

Fish, 899 F 2d 390 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1990).

The Court admitted testimonies of Latonya McKnight concerning this matter over the objection of the defense. In *Offor v. Scott.* 72 S. 3<sup>rd</sup> 30 (5<sup>TH</sup> Cir. 1995), the admission of the video tape violated the confrontation clause. The court erred in admitting said statements.

#### **ISSUE VIII**

# THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY NOT DISMISSING THE INDICTMENT WHEN IT ALLOWED THE MEMBERS OF THE VENIRE TO VIEW AMANDA BROWN IN SHACKLES

The Court should have dismissed said case based on the shackling of defendant in presence of members of the venire. The uniformed officers escorted Amanda Brown into the courtroom in the presence of a number of jurors. Amanda Brown was shackled at the time while jurors were present until the officers removed the shackles.

Under Mississippi law the accused is protected from appearance before the jury in shackles or cuffs unless special security considerations dictate such restraint is necessary, see .

Hickson v. State, 472 So. 2<sup>nd</sup> 379 (Miss. 1985).

#### ISSUE IX

WHETHER THE SENTENCING CONSTITUTES CRUEL AND UNUSUAL
PUNISHMENT AND IS DISPROPORTIONATE UNDER THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT

The jury deliberated and returned a verdict of guilty of manslaughter. The judge sentenced Amanda Rochelle Brown to serve 20 years with 5 suspended in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The jury deliberated and returned a verdict of guilty of manslaughter. The judge sentenced Amanda Brown to serve 20 years with 5 suspended in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

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