# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### AMANDA ROCHELLE BROWN

# FILED

#### APPELLANT

MAR 2 2 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2006-KA-0717

#### **STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

VS.

APPELLEE

#### **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

#### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

#### JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT OF MANSLAUGHTER

2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING PRIOR BAD ACT EVIDENCE INTO EVIDENCE

3. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DECLINING TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENT AT BAR ON ACCOUNT OF AN ALLEGED ILLEGAL ARREST

4. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING CERTAIN JURY INSTRUCTIONS

5. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENT AT BAR ON ACCOUNT OF ALLEGED "TORTURE"

6. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO DISMISS THE CASE ON ACCOUNT OF THE APPELLANT'S ALLEGED MENTAL INCOMPETENCY

7. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO SUPPRESS THE TESTIMONY OF THE WITNESS McKNIGHT

8. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENT ON ACCOUNT OF THE ALLEGED FACT THAT SOME MEMBERS OF THE VENIRE MIGHT HAVE SEEN THE APPELLANT IN HANDCUFFS

9. THAT THE NINTH ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR IS NOT BEFORE THE COURT

#### ARGUMENT

# 1. THAT THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT OF MANSLAUGHTER

In her First Assignment of Error, the Appellant contends that the evidence was

insufficient to support the verdict. In considering this claim, we bear in mind the standard of

review applicable to it. May v. State, 460 So.2d 778 (Miss. 1983). We also bear in mind the

elements of "heat of passion" manslaughter. Sullinger v. State, 935 So.2d 1067 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

The evidence in support of the verdict, taken as true, together with all reasonable inferences therefrom was that the Appellant stabbed the victim in the course of a lover's quarrel. The victim was removing her clothing from the apartment at the time she was killed. There was a use of a deadly weapon, in the heat of passion, without authority of law and not in self defense.

That this occurred was established by eyewitness testimony. While it may be that there were no other witnesses, other than the Appellant, this fact is inconsequential. The eyewitness' testimony was corroborated by the location of the bloodstains in the hall and on the carpet, the location of the murder weapon, and bloodstains in the bedroom. The pathologist's testimony further corroborated the eyewitness' testimony. Suicides do not stab themselves. It was also the opinion of the pathologist that it would have been difficult if not impossible for the victim to have stabbed herself in the way that she was stabbed. The physical evidence at the crime scene and the testimony of the pathologist corroborated the eyewitness' testimony. The evidence was sufficient. *Martin v. State*, 818 So.2d 383 (Miss. 2002).

The Appellant says that the State's case rested entirely upon the testimony of the eyewitness, yet he contends that this is a circumstantial evidence case. It is not. *Long v. State*, 934 So.2d 313 (Miss Ct. App. 2006). The Appellant's argument based upon a circumstantial evidence analysis should be disregarded.

That the State's case was heavily based upon the testimony of one eyewitness is not a particularly unusual thing. Any number of cases have this characteristic. *Dawkins v. State*, 775 So.2d 1271 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). What weight and credibility to give to the eyewitness'

testimony are matters left solely to the jury to determine. Insofar as sufficiency of the evidence is concerned, we think the evidence was amply sufficient to put the case to the jury.

The Appellant cites *Pipkins v. State*, 592 So.2d 947 (Miss. 1991). That case, though, involved considerations concerning a confidential informant, in the context of a Fourth Amendment issue. Here, the eyewitness was not a confidential informer. Credibility considerations that are pertinent to the issuance of a search warrant on the basis of information from a confidential informant are simply inapplicable to credibility issues concerning trial witnesses.

The First Assignment of Error is without merit.

# 2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING PRIOR BAD ACT EVIDENCE INTO EVIDENCE

In her Second Assignment of Error, the Appellant says that the trial court erred in allowing testimony to the effect that she had stabbed her stepfather on a prior occasion. The Appellant, however, has seen no reason to tell the Court where this was done. We do not recall that any of the witnesses testified to the Appellant's habit of stabbing people.

It was the Appellant's duty to show where in the record the alleged error occurred. Rule 28(a)(6) MRAP; *Britt v. State*, 844 So.2d 1180, 1183 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). This requirement is especially important when the Court is presented with a record as voluminous as the one here. Because the Appellant has failed to support his argument with citation to the record, it should be considered abandoned.

In the event that this Court will consider the Second Assignment of Error on its merits notwithstanding the foregoing reason why it should not, there is no merit in it.

The Court will find some discussion out of the presence of the jury about the

admissibility of the fact that the Appellant had stabbed her stepfather. Apparently, there was a reference to that event by the eyewitness in the course of a tape or video recording of her interview by law enforcement. (R. Vol. 6, pp. 591 - 595). It was the Appellant, however, who asked that the tape or tapes be played for the jury. (R. Vol. 6, pg. 582). As the tapes were being played, there was no objection by the defense. (R. Vol. 6, pp. 583 - 586). It was only after the tapes were played that the Appellant objected. (R. Vol. 6, pg. 586).

The Appellant claimed that he had preserved his right to object to the contents of the tape. However, rather than having provided a redacted copy of the tape(s), it was the Appellant's idea that he would just object if and when something came up. The State continually objected to the playing of the tape(s); the judge was in a quandary as how to handle or anticipate objections. The trial court seems at some point to have decided that, if the Appellant wanted the tapes played, the whole tape would be played. (R. Vol. 6, pp. 457 - 468).

While the facts about this issue are fairly sloppy, one thing is clear: The Appellant did not object when the said - to - be objectionable statement was made. (R. Vol. 6, pg. 586). It may be that the Appellant noted that he intended to make objections if necessary. However, he was bound to make a contemporaneous objection at the time some supposedly inadmissible testimony was about to come in. His failure to do so works a waiver of the issue here. *Christmas v. State*, 700 So.2d 262, 271 (Miss. 1997). His statement, made prior to the playing of the tape(s), to the effect that he intended to object if necessary, does not amount to a contemporaneous objection.

Beyond this, it should be recalled that it was the defense that insisted that the tape or tapes be played for the jury. Counsel for the Appellant, presumably, was familiar with the contents of the tape. If there was inadmissible evidence in the tapes, he should have informed the trial court prior to the playing of the tape(s) so that some action might have been taken. He

might have created a redacted copy of the tape(s). In any event, the Appellant may not complain of an alleged error that resulted from his actions. A party may not request some action by a trial court, or introduce evidence, and later allege error in the action or admission of evidence. *Isom v. State*, 928 So.2d 840 (Miss. 2006).

The Second Assignment of Error is without merit.

# 3. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DECLINING TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENT AT BAR ON ACCOUNT OF AN ALLEGED ILLEGAL ARREST

In the Third Assignment of Error, it is said that the Appellant's arrest was illegal because there was a lack of corroborative evidence and because the eyewitness was "unreliable." Prior to trial, the Appellant filed two motions concerning probable cause. The first consisted of a claim that the Grand Jury did not have probable cause to return a true bill on the charge of murder. However, the Appellant did not trouble herself to state why that might have been so. The second was an obscure "Motion to Dismiss: Probable Cause." Somehow or another, the Appellant was of the view that her rights were being violated on account of her being charged with murder. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 33 - 36). These were brought on for a hearing and relief upon them was denied. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 29 - 30; 77 - 78).

The Appellant was arrested after the eyewitness to the homicide told law enforcement what happened. Her account was in fact corroborated by location of blood stains and the murder weapon at the apartment. Her account was corroborated by the fact that the victim's death was very unlikely to have occurred in the way claimed by the Appellant. There was no question but that the eyewitness was present when the victim was killed.

The Appellant cites *State v. Woods*, 866 So.2d 422 (Miss. 2003) for the proposition that an arrest based upon uncorroborated information is invalid. What the Appellant does not

understand, though, is that *Woods* concerned information from a confidential informant who had never given information to law enforcement previously and who was unknown to law enforcement. The Court found that there was no corroboration to establish the truthfulness and reliability of the confidential informant.

The case at bar does not involve an arrest warrant issued upon information given by a confidential informant who was unknown to law enforcement. *Woods* rests upon long-established law, but it simply has no application under the facts at bar. The eyewitness was not a confidential informant. She was a witness. As such, it was not necessary to demonstrate that she was a credible person. *Walker v. State*, 473 So.2d 435, 438 (Miss. 1985).

The arrest was valid. But even if it were not, it would make no difference. The Appellant did not give a confession or incriminating statement after her arrest. No evidence from her was seized. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 55). The mere fact of a said - to - be illegal arrest does not bar prosecution. *Fleming v. State*, 604 So.2d 280 (Miss.1992).

The Third Assignment of Error is without merit.

### 4. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING CERTAIN JURY INSTRUCTIONS

The Appellant assigns error in the trial court's denial of a number of jury instructions in her Fourth Assignment of Error. None have merit.

First of all, the Appellant, following her usual practice of letting the Court shift for itself with respect to the record, has not seen fit even to identify the instructions she complains of. This is slovenly appellate practice, and the Court should consider the Fourth Assignment of Error to be abandoned on account of the Appellant's failure to cite to the record as she was required to do. Beyond this, beyond a bare claim that the trial court erred in refusing certain instructions, the Appellant presents no argument or citation to authority in support of her claims. The Fourth Assignment of Error is waived or abandoned for this reason as well. *Wall v. State*, 883 So.2d 617 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004).

Assuming the Fourth Assignment of Error is before the Court, though without intending to waive the foregoing reasons why it is not, it is utterly without merit.

We do not think it necessary to take the Fourth Assignment of Error any more seriously than the Appellant. We will not take upon ourselves the burden of divining what the Appellant considers erroneous in the denial of these instructions. We will observe only that: (1) the eyewitness was not an accomplice in homicide. That she was at first a suspect hardly makes her an accomplice, for purposes of an accomplice instructions; (2) the case at bar was not a circumstantial evidence case, for purposes of a circumstantial evidence instruction; (3) and that the *Weathersby* instruction simply was not applicable.

The Fourth Assignment of Error is without merit.

# 5. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENT AT BAR ON ACCOUNT OF ALLEGED "TORTURE"

In the Fifth Assignment of Error, the Appellant presents a very unusual claim. She says that she was tortured whilst in jail, either during or before trial. One does not see very many unusual issues in appeals against criminal convictions; we are at turns amused and annoyed by this silly claim.

The Appellant tells the Court (again without benefit of citation to the record) that she and others were "attacked" by the sheriff's men and that she and they were sprayed with mace. And this when the Appellant was pregnant even! The Appellant then mutters something about the duty laid upon the State to provide medical care for inmates.

On one morning in the course of the trial, the Appellant, prior to commencement of the day's work, complained to the trial court of having been "maced" in the jail. She also complained of having had family visitation canceled. She also complained of having been improperly fed in that she was given cold hot dogs, cold beans and bread. She also complained that she had not been seen by a doctor, something that she said was necessary in that she had somehow gotten herself pregnant. This last point was significant, she thought, because she had previously miscarried. (R. Vol. 8, pp. 846 - 847).

The State related to the court what it understood had transpired. At the time appointed for lunch or supper, twenty trays were provided for the twenty inmates present. The Appellant complained that she had received nothing to eat, so the woman having charge of the inmates went to get a "dead man's tray," which was apparently an extra tray of food the jail kept on hand.

The Appellant was given the "dead man's tray." However, the Appellant thought that the food it contained was cold, perhaps as cold as a morgue, and so she threw the tray and its contents against a wall. The Appellant and perhaps her fellow inmates were told that, if they were going to act that way, visitation would be cancelled. Another inmate took umbrage at this announcement and attacked the jailer. A pepper spray was used to subdue that inmate. The Appellant was not so sprayed, but she was apparently in the area.

After this excitement died down, the inmates were taken into the yard. The Appellant complained of stomach pains. She was taken to see a doctor that night. The Appellant was also seen by gynecologist, who reported that she was "fine." The Appellant was then taken back to jail.

Now, while the Appellant, through her attorney, professed concern for her child, what her

attorney failed to relate to the court was that the Appellant had a habit of trying to jump off tables in the jail, this in an attempt to abort the child she was so concerned about. Upon hearing that, the Appellant's attorney then decided that his client might be crazy, so of course he then asked for a competency hearing. But there is no need to go into that imbroglio here, it being the subject of the next assignment of error. (R. Vol. 8, pp. 847 - 849). It then was said that the table jumping business actually occurred a year or so before trial, when the Appellant was pregnant with triplets. She was apparently successful. (R. Vol. 8, pg. 864). She had not been jumping from table during the pregnancy she had during trial. (R. Vol. 8, pg. 855).

The trial court found that the Appellant was being provided medical care and indicated that it wished to ensure that she did so, if any action by it were necessary for the purpose. (R. Vol. 8, pg. 851).

In all of this, we do not find that the Appellant ever asked that the case against her be dismissed for this said - to - be torture. What the record reflects is that her comments were a generalized complaint about treatment in jail that evolved into a request for a mental competency examination. Since the Appellant did not ask for dismissal of the charge against herself, she is in no position here to complain of the trial court's failure or refusal to grant such relief.

As a factual matter, the Appellant simply was not "tortured." She threw her tray against a wall, which prompted the officer who had charge of the prisoners to threaten cancel family visitation. This threat caused another prisoner to assault the officer; that prisoner was subdued with pepper spray. The Appellant, however, was not the target of the spray. The Appellant was given access to medical services.

Even if by some wild stretch of imagination it might be thought that the Appellant was "tortured," dismissal of the indictment against her would not be the remedy. The remedy would

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